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‘I have learned to regard fame as a will-o-the-wisp,
which when caught, is not worth the possession;
but to please a child is a sweet and lovely thing
that warms one’s heart and brings its own reward.’


– L. Frank Baum





INTRODUCTION:
TRAVELLING DOWN THE YELLOW BRICK ROAD



There are no doubt millions of people who, if you were to ask them what they can recall about The Wizard of Oz, would mention Judy Garland and the Yellow Brick Road, the Scarecrow, the Tin Man, the Cowardly Lion and the Wizard himself. They’d probably quote the Witch’s line about getting Dorothy ‘and her little dog too’ and almost certainly cackle in a mad manner. Ask about the creator of Oz, and some might recognize the name ‘L. Frank Baum’, particularly if it was given to them among a list of possibilities. In Britain or Canada, they may recall the reality TV show that searched for a Dorothy for a new stage production. But ask them about Ozma or Billina; the Hungry Tiger or Tik-Tok; the Nome King or the Deadly Desert, and chances are high that you’ll just get a blank stare.


That indicates both how much the 1939 MGM musical version of The Wizard of Oz has become part of our psyches over the last seventy-five years – it’s regularly voted as one of the top, if not the top, film of all time – and how little its origins are known. Lyman Frank Baum didn’t just write one tale about Oz; he penned fourteen novels, and a collection of short stories. After his death, other writers continued the saga, and there are forty tales in all which are regarded as the official history of Oz. Amazing as it seems now, Dorothy Gale and the Cowardly Lion don’t even appear in the first sequel (although on the rare occasions that story has been translated to the screen, at the very least Dorothy has usually been incorporated).


There’s not just been one Oz film either: while The Wizard of Oz is celebrating its 75th birthday in 2014, preparations are underway for a sequel to Disney’s prequel, Oz the Great and Powerful. But even the 1939 movie was merely another in a long line of live-action versions of the children’s story: legendary names from Hollywood history, including Hal Roach, Harold Lloyd and Oliver Hardy (shortly before he teamed up with Stan Laurel), all appeared in stories set in Oz – although it’s fair to say that some of these deviated quite considerably from Baum’s vision.


There have been plenty of other films between 1939 and 2013: Disney brought a darker vision of Oz to the screen in the much-maligned Return to Oz and Michael Jackson jived his way to see The Wiz. There have been television adaptations featuring Shirley Temple and the Muppets. It’s been a favoured choice by animators, with a major Japanese anime series in the mid-1980s adapting four of Baum’s early Oz books.


And Oz has been ripe for reinvention. Alice in Wonderland director Tim Burton worked on an update entitled Lost in Oz, and a pilot episode with the same title was made a couple of years later. (Sadly neither developed into a series.) In 2007, the American Sci-Fi Channel was behind Tin Man, a complete reworking of the story that achieved stellar ratings for the channel. At the time of writing, Warner Bros. Television are looking at a series that will infuse the Oz universe with the spirit of the Game of Thrones TV show – a much bleaker and less innocent world than L. Frank Baum could ever have imagined.


This Brief Guide to Oz isn’t a history of the land of Oz: if you want to see how all the pieces fit together within the chronology of the land, then the website The Royal Timeline of Oz (http://timelineuniverse.net/Oz/OzMap.htm) is highly recommended. There you’ll find all the official and unofficial stories melded into one – moderately consistent – whole.


This book is a guide to the many different visions of Oz. Starting with a look at the lives of the two main Royal Historians of Oz – L. Frank Baum and his successor Ruth Plumly Thompson, who actually wrote more official Oz stories than its creator – we then examine the so-called ‘Famous Forty’, the tales that laid down the rules of Oz.


From there we look at Oz on screen: its roots in the silent era, including the trio of films produced by Baum himself, and the long journey that the MGM musical took to the screen. After a good look at the Judy Garland movie, we examine Disney’s attempts to bring Oz to the screen which culminated in Return to Oz, and more recently Oz the Great and Powerful. There’s also a detailed discussion of the many small-screen versions based directly on Baum’s story, and a perusal of the radio and audio editions of the books and films, as well as the comic book adaptations.


The 1939 film was brought to the stage in a production that has been performed around the world on thousands of occasions over the last seventy-five years, but there have been many other theatrical versions that have gone off to see the Wizard. Baum himself tried to capitalize on his creation and only managed to make himself nearly bankrupt in the process; others have invested more wisely, and we look at the 1970s phenomenon The Wiz, as well as the latest Oz stage success, Wicked.


This leads neatly into our final section, which charts the many different ways in which Oz has been reimagined – from the horrors of Christopher Golden and James A. Moore’s Bloodstained Oz to the later adventures of an emotionally damaged Dorothy Gale in Alan Moore’s controversial series Lost Girls; from the sci-fi madness of The Wonderful Galaxy of Oz to Stephen King, Robert Heinlein and Philip José Farmer’s various recreations of the Oz world in their fiction; and the many continuation stories, created by fans to fill in the gaps in the history of their favourite Wonderful World, as well as the Russian reworking of the tales by Alexander Volkov and Sergei Sukhinov, which spun off completely new versions of Oz history.


L. Frank Baum wrote in his introduction to The Lost Princess of Oz in 1917: ‘I believe that dreams – day dreams, you know, with your eyes wide open and your brain machinery whizzing – are likely to lead to the betterment of the world.’ Prepare to have your eyes opened and your brains set to whiz as we enter the Marvelous Land of Oz . . .


Paul Simpson


August 2013





AUTHOR’S NOTE



L. Frank Baum wasn’t meticulous about continuity from book to book, and the spelling of the names of some of the characters – particularly Tik-Tok – varies considerably. In the text, I have used the spelling indicated in the book, film or play being discussed. Similarly, the second book is usually referred to as The Marvelous Land of Oz, using the American spelling; that has also been retained throughout.





1. OZ AND ITS CREATORS
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L. FRANK BAUM BEFORE OZ


For several generations of children, the tales of the land of Oz have provided a fantastical escape from the mundane banality of their everyday lives. For their creator, they were perhaps the logical culmination of being a thwarted storyteller for many years; through them his imagination was allowed to roam free.


Lyman Frank Baum was born in Chittenango, New York, on 15 May 1856, the seventh child of Benjamin Ward Baum, a barrel-maker, and Cynthia Stanton, the daughter of a well-to-do farmer, who had eloped together when they were twenty-one. Prior to Frank’s birth, his father, an astute businessman, had built his own barrel factory, and in 1859, Benjamin invested in the oilfields that had been discovered near Titusville, Pennsylvania. The proceeds from this allowed him to buy a large house in Syracuse, New York. When Frank was ten, his father added a country estate named Rose Lawn, a few miles north of the city, as well as Spring Farm, eighty acres of dairy land next door. Although as a child Frank regarded Rose Lawn as a paradise, it was here that he first encountered scarecrows, which ‘seemed to my childish imagination as just about to wave their arms, straighten up and stalk across the field on their long legs’, and caused him recurrent nightmares.


Frank was named after his uncle Lyman, but made it clear early on that he disliked the name – as early as the 1860 census, his name is given as ‘Frankie’. He wasn’t a particularly healthy child: he had heart problems as a youngster, but by the time he was twelve, he was fit enough to be sent to Peekskill Military Academy, after receiving home schooling until then. He disliked the academy intensely during the two years he spent there, and after suffering a heart attack while being disciplined for looking out of the window instead of concentrating on his school work, his parents agreed to bring him home – at least, that’s the version given in Frank’s son’s biography of him, which did resort to guesswork in places.


Reading was one of Frank’s pleasures, and he devoured the works of Dickens, Thackeray and Shakespeare. The production of the books also fascinated him: when he was fourteen, he visited a printing shop in Syracuse, and became engrossed in the process. His father bought him a small printing press of his own, and Frank, helped by his younger brother Harry, began to produce his own monthly paper, the Rose Lawn Home Journal, which debuted in October 1870. It featured various fictional and factual pieces, as well as poetry by his sister Mary Louise.


It wasn’t the only magazine Frank produced: his interest in philately led to The Stamp Collector as well as a Complete Stamp Dealer’s Directory, and he and Harry teamed up with Thomas G. Alvord Jr, the son of the lieutenant governor, to create a short-lived monthly literary journal, The Empire. After a year spent at the Syracuse Classical School in 1873, Frank’s education was deemed complete.


A pattern began to emerge early on in Frank’s business life, when he was duped by the manager of a Shakespearean troupe. His love of theatrics meant that he spent a lot of time watching the various travelling companies who visited Syracuse, but none of them would allow him to join them, until one manager agreed, as long as he brought along with him ‘a complete set of costumes for all the starring roles he might be called upon to take’. Over his father’s misgivings, Frank ordered thousands of dollars’ worth of fine costumes, and became part of the troupe – using the pseudonym of George Brooks, since his father was concerned about potential damage to the family name by being associated with the stage. Within a few days, however, all his costumes had been borrowed by his unscrupulous fellows; a few weeks later, Frank returned home empty-handed, after only playing a few small walk-on parts.


Soon after this, Frank jumped on board the developing interest in breeding fancy poultry. B.W. Baum and Sons – comprising Benjamin, Frank and Harry – was formed to raise Hamburg chickens, and Frank was instrumental in setting up the Empire State Poultry Association in late 1878, as well as the trade journal The Poultry Record in March 1880. Chickens would remain one of Frank’s passions, with his lengthy article on Hamburgs for another trade magazine, The Poultry World, reprinted as The Book of the Hamburgs in 1886; one of the key characters in the Oz saga is the self-obsessed chicken, Billina, who first appears in the third story, Ozma of Oz.


After spending the next few months working at his brother-in-law’s store in Syracuse, and setting up the chicken business, Frank returned to his real love, since he still very much wanted to be an actor. Using the name Louis F. Baum, he appeared in the hit play The Banker’s Daughter, at the Union Square Theatre in New York from 30 November 1878, which ran for a hundred nights. He supplemented his income with articles for New York papers, and he then worked on the Bradford Era newspaper for a year. In 1880, his father promoted him to manager of a small chain of theatres that he owned in the oilfields towns; quite quickly, Frank deduced that it made more sense to create his own company of players than try to get bigger companies to visit the small towns. After some attempts to bring Shakespeare to the masses, which didn’t go down so well with the audiences of oil workers, Frank began writing his own shows.


The Maid of Arran was by far the most popular of these, which Frank adapted from a popular novel, A Princess of Thule, by William Black. Its tale of a painter who tries to introduce an unsophisticated woman to London society was heavily rewritten, relocating the story to Ireland and incorporating numerous extra twists. Frank toured with the play for some months, visiting Toronto, Chicago and New York before returning in triumph to Syracuse in February 1883.


By this stage, Frank was a married man. He had been introduced to Maud Gage, the room-mate of his cousin Josephine, at a party over the Christmas holidays of 1881, with the words, ‘Frank, I want you to know Maud Gage. I’m sure you will love her.’ Frank graciously replied, ‘Consider yourself loved, Miss Gage,’ to which Maud replied, ‘Thank you, Mr Baum. That’s a promise. Please see that you live up to it.’


Maud was the daughter of the women’s suffrage campaigner Matilda Joselyn Gage, who would become a heavy influence on Frank’s writing, particularly her belief in theosophy, which claimed to provide a rational basis for faith in a spiritual world, by incorporating the ‘essential truths’ of religion and science without making distinctions based on race, religion, class or gender. Frank courted Maud across the summer of 1882, but when she agreed to marry him, her mother was not happy at the prospect of her being ‘a darned fool’ by marrying an actor and dropping out of college. Maud was as strong-willed as her mother, and made it clear that she was wedding Frank whether her mother liked it or not; Matilda backed down and agreed they could marry at her home. This they did on 9 November 1882, and their first child, Frank Junior, was born on 4 December 1883 at their new home in Syracuse.


Maud’s will exerted itself at home: in the late nineteenth century it was expected that a wife would be compliant with her husband’s wishes. Not so in the Baum household: Maud was the disciplinarian with their children, and made it clear that her wishes were paramount. The family regularly recalled the incident of the Bismarcks (jam-filled doughnuts) which Frank had brought home one day without being asked; when challenged why, Frank protested that he liked the meals Maud provided for him, but also liked Bismarcks for breakfasts. Maud wasn’t happy. She proceeded to serve the doughnuts to him every day despite their going stale, since she wasn’t prepared to see food go to waste. She eventually let him off ‘this time if you will promise never again to buy any food unless I ask you to get it’.


In July 1883, Frank became proprietor of a store for lubricating oil, which helped to keep the family solvent when the theatrical business suffered a major downturn: Frank’s uncle John, who had acted as business manager, fell ill, and a bookkeeper was hired, who promptly mismanaged the business, then vanished. A fire that destroyed one of Frank’s theatres, along with the costumes, scenery and props for The Maid of Arran, was the last straw; Frank had to sell everything connected to the theatres, including the rights to The Maid. It wasn’t the last time that he would have to give up important rights as a result of his desire to be a theatrical impresario.


It wasn’t the only catastrophe to hit the Baums over the next few years. In 1884, Frank’s older brother, Benjamin William, invented a new lubricant oil, Castorine, and Frank became superintendent of the company set up to manufacture and distribute it. However, Benjamin died in February 1886, and the clerk left in charge of the company by Frank’s uncle Adam gambled away most of the capital, leaving Frank in spring 1888 with little option but to sell the company to which he had devoted many hours on the road. His father had died a year earlier, after being injured in a horse and buggy accident in 1885 from which he never fully recovered; his fortune had been whittled away, and he had been forced to sell Spring Farm. Maud nearly died in childbirth with their second son, Robert Stanton, on 1 February 1886, and took two years to recover.


It was clear that it was time to head somewhere new to start afresh. Maud’s sister Helen and her husband Charles Gage had moved to the frontier town of Aberdeen, South Dakota in 1887. Three of her siblings were already there, and in September 1888, Frank, Maud and their sons joined them. Frank became the proprietor and owner of Baum’s Bazaar, which sold ‘a magnificent and complete assortment’ of items, ranging from ‘Bohemian and Native Glass Ware’ to ‘Gunther’s Celebrated Chicago Candles’. What Frank couldn’t have anticipated was the downturn in the local economy following a drought; desirable as his stock was, he wasn’t selling essentials and the Northwestern National Bank of Aberdeen foreclosed on their mortgage on 1 January 1890. (It was bought by his sister-in-law, Helen, who managed to run it successfully for twelve years by selling practical items that were needed by the inhabitants of a frontier town.) Matters hadn’t been helped by the loss of a shipment of goods in Lake Huron in December 1888, by Frank’s sponsorship of the Aberdeen Baseball Club, which lost money because of the team’s remote location, and by the increase in his outgoings caused by the birth of his third son, Harry Neal, on 17 December 1889.


Undeterred, Frank returned to journalism, buying the Dakota Pioneer, a weekly paper whose owner was anxious to sell, and renaming it the Aberdeen Saturday Pioneer. He was not just the editor, but also in charge of subscriptions, advertising and writing much of the content. He was also able to use the printing press to handle outside commissions, which helped to maintain the cash flow.


Frank owned the paper for around fifteen months, during which time he wrote editorials on many subjects dear to his heart, including women’s suffrage. In April 1890, he became the secretary of the Equal Suffrage Club in Aberdeen, and he used his position on the paper to try to advance the cause, while downplaying, where necessary, the various rifts that grew between the assorted participants. He maintained this stance throughout the summer: a vote to strike the word ‘male’ from the state constitution on the issue was set for November. However, once that had been defeated, he simply noted that ‘[t]he defeat of Equal Suffrage will stand as a lasting reproach to the state of South Dakota’. He also regularly wrote about his interest in theosophy.


One regular feature was written by Frank, but appeared under the byline of ‘Our Landlady’, one Mrs Bilkins, the owner of a boarding house who had trenchant opinions on many matters. Although she seemed to share many of Frank’s core beliefs, she arrived at them through a much less considered route, and could express them more forcibly, for instance noting on the economic woes that ‘If only every man would say “I will do suthin’ ” instead o’ sayin’ “why don’t somebody else do suthin’?” times would change mighty quick.’ She also had a common interest with Frank in potential inventions for the future, something which Baum expanded upon in his novel The Master Key in 1901.


The elections in November 1890 saw defeat for nearly every cause that Frank had supported and he seemed to lose interest thereafter. A month later, he wrote two editorials, which have become the subject of some notoriety in recent years. In them, he apparently suggested that ‘our only safety depends upon the total extirmination [sic] of the Indians’ following the death of the Lakota Sioux holy man Sitting Bull and the massacre at Wounded Knee. Although his descendants would apologize for these texts in 2006, it seems more likely that Frank was using reverse psychology: such a callous disregard for life doesn’t match his other attitudes, or reflect other pieces that he wrote about the Native Americans.


At the start of 1891, advertising sales continued to dwindle with a further economic downturn, and fewer copies were being sold. By February, the Pioneer was down to eight pages, after experimenting with larger formats, and Frank himself had to withdraw for a large part from writing while undergoing successful treatment for a tumour under his tongue.


With a fourth child, Kenneth Gage, arriving in March 1891, it was once again clear to the Baums that Frank would need to seek better paid and more reliable employ. This he found in Chicago; at the start of April, the Aberdeen Daily News reported that Frank was now working on one of the leading dailies in the Windy City, and that he had closed down the Pioneer. Although he didn’t actually find a job until the start of May – he was turned down by eight of the papers before the Chicago Evening Post took him on – it was time to put his writing experience to good use.


Or so Frank thought. When he realized that the Post was paying him $80 a calendar month, rather than the $20 a week he had been expecting (leaving him with a shortfall of $6, a sizeable sum each month), he once again, at the age of thirty-five, had to find a new career.


Within six months of arriving in Chicago, Frank was working as a china buyer for a large department store, after quickly reading up on the subject at the library so he could bluff his way through the interview. He soon swapped this for a role as a travelling salesman, at which he turned out to be excellent, even if the arduous nature of the job was not conducive to his health. Not only was he responsible for sales in central and southern Illinois, Iowa and Missouri, which meant spending many hours on the railroads, but he had to pack and unpack hundreds of pieces of china and glassware at each stop ready to impress the buyers. By 1894, he was already being advised to find something less strenuous – but he was not able to risk losing the regular payments for a further three years by resigning from the job, during which time he was the firm’s leading salesman, and the Baums were able to move to a larger home, buy a dog, and hire a Swedish maid.


Although Frank was often away on business, when he was at home his priority was his family, and he ensured that holidays such as the Fourth of July and Christmas were celebrated properly. For the latter, he would place the tree in front of closed curtains, and talk to the family from behind the curtains – a forerunner of the Wizard’s actions in Oz.


Frank continued to try to find lucrative ‘sidelines’ which would help to alleviate the pressure on the family’s finances: he promoted new ‘nut locks’ (a sort of wing nut) for a time, but the most financially rewarding continued to be his writing. Although he tried to sell verses and stories, most were rejected by publishers (Frank noted them all in a book he called his ‘Record of Failure’), although there were some notable successes, including a third-prize-winning contribution to a piece on ‘Chicago’s International Exposition, AD 2090’, which appeared in 1896 and suggested that by 2090, Ireland would be an independent republic, England would have a female president, and people would communicate over long distance, using thought transference.


However, when he combined his two jobs, he hit on a winning formula: he had always been interested in the art of window dressing, and came up with a trade journal that would pass on the tricks of the trade. The Show Window: A Journal of Practical Window Training for the Merchant and the Professional made its debut on 1 November 1897, and Frank was quick to resign from his sales job to concentrate on its future. It was a smart move: the magazine was a success, and the income from it allowed the Baums to move even further upmarket, to a house on Humboldt Park Boulevard on the North-West Side of Chicago. By the turn of the century, Frank had been able to reprint material from the magazine into a book entitled The Art of Decorating Dry Goods Windows and Interiors.


However, in October 1900, Frank announced that he was stepping down from the editorship. What had been a sideline was about to become a major source of income. ‘The generous reception . . . of my books for children, during the past two years, has resulted in such constant demands upon my time that I find it necessary to devote my entire attention, hereafter, to this class of work.’ A month earlier, The Wizard of Oz had been published. It wasn’t Frank’s first book for children, but it was the one that ensured his legacy.
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INTO OZ


L. Frank Baum’s first published fiction had nothing to do with the Emerald City or the adventures of Dorothy and her friends. Thanks to the influence of his mother-in-law, who heard him telling stories to his children and their friends, Frank wrote books of fairy tales entitled Adventures in Phunnyland and Tales of Mother Goose, both of which he copyrighted in 1896 and started sending around publishers the following year.


Tales of Mother Goose was snapped up by Chancey L. Williams, the owner of Way & Williams publishers, to whom Frank was introduced in June 1897 by Opie Read, another member of the Chicago Press Club to which Frank belonged. It was printed under the title Mother Goose in Prose, illustrated with fourteen black and white drawings by Maxwell Parrish. In it, Frank retold the well-known nursery stories in a new way, providing backstories for the characters that explained how they arrived in the fantastical situations in the rhymes. Its modest success encouraged the publishers to consider following it up with Adventures in Phunnyland, but unfortunately they went bust before they could print it.


Although he was pleased by the reaction to his children’s stories, Frank’s main focus had to be on The Show Window during 1897 and 1898. He did find time to collect his various pieces of verse in By the Candelabra’s Glare, a self-published book which he gave to his friends and family. This was illustrated by three artists including William Wallace Denslow, a very successful designer of book covers and posters, who had also been introduced to Frank by Opie Read. Denslow and Frank became good friends, and started work on a ‘sequel’ to Mother Goose, which was based on the notion that Mother Goose had joined a Woman’s Club, leaving her husband at home to amuse the children. Father Goose was a true collaboration between Frank and Denslow – each was inspired by the other’s work, with Frank sometimes rewriting his poems completely once he saw Denslow’s illustrations, which were consciously restricted to a yellow, red, grey and black colour palette.


Father Goose was completed by early 1899, and copyrighted by the pair jointly. It was published in September by George M. Hill, who insisted that the two creators should cover a large proportion of the printing costs. It was far more successful than either Frank or Denslow could have anticipated: over 75,000 copies were sold before the end of 1899. Twenty-six of the verses were set to music by Alberta N. Hall, and published as The Songs of Father Goose, for the Home, School and Nursery in June 1900. Frank worked with two other artists, Harry Kennedy and Charles Costello, on a couple of other books of verse – The Army Alphabet and The Navy Alphabet – which appeared in the spring and summer of 1900, but since these lacked Denslow’s distinctive drawings, they were not so well received. Adventures in Phunnyland – a set of fourteen stories set in a magical valley – finally saw print in October 1900 under the title A New Wonderland; the comparison in the title with Lewis Carroll’s famous work led one reviewer to note that ‘Mr Baum is not Carroll, indeed, but he is Baum, and Baum is a very satisfactory personage in himself’.


However, the book that Frank considered to be ‘the best thing I ever have written’ (as noted in a letter to his brother Harry) was the one on which he pinned most of his hopes. The Wonderful Wizard of Oz didn’t pop into his head fully formed: his tales of ‘The Emerald City’ (the title by which the first Oz book was known throughout its writing) had been percolating for some years, but he sat down in the spring of 1899 with Denslow and began charting the story of Dorothy’s journey from Kansas to Oz, and her travails there. George M. Hill agreed to publish it on the same shared-cost basis as ‘Father Goose’, but wanted to wait until he knew how well that had done before printing ‘The Emerald City’. He also requested a different title, and for a time the book was known as ‘From Kansas to Fairyland’. By January 1900, Hill was confident that a further Baum/Denslow book would be a hit, and paid the pair $500 each as an advance on royalties for the book that was now known as ‘The Land of Oz’. In early March, the final title was agreed, and The Wonderful Wizard of Oz was sent to press. Over 37,000 copies of the book were sold between its official publication date in September 1900 and Christmas 1901.


Like many fantasy authors, Frank couldn’t always identify exactly where his inspiration had come from, and when he was later asked where the name Oz derived from, he claimed that he had been in the middle of telling a story about Dorothy, the Scarecrow and the Tin Woodman to a group of children and they had asked where the stories were located. He looked around the room and saw a filing cabinet labelled O–Z and simply adopted the letters. He could even specifically date the tale to 7 May 1898, since a newspaper headline in the room referenced Admiral Dewey’s victory in Manila. (Dalek creator Terry Nation similarly maintained for years that he had found the name for his monsters from the title of a telephone directory.) However, given Frank’s predilection for giving his countries two-letter names (Ev, Mo, Ix), chances are that Oz was simply a mellifluous combination plucked from thin air.


The Wonderful Wizard of Oz wasn’t intended as the start of a series of adventures, and Frank moved on to a new set of characters in his next book, Dot and Tot of Merryland, which was aimed at a younger audience. This too was illustrated by Denslow, but was not as popular as their previous collaborations. Frank tried to update fairy tales in his American Fairy Tales, which included such delights as a trio of bandits arriving in contemporary Chicago (with the little girl who finds them suggesting they could become politicians!), and ‘The Dummy That Lived’ about a wax dummy who gains consciousness but not acceptance. American Fairy Tales was initially published in 1901, and then reprinted, with extra stories and some tidying-up of the originals, in 1908.


Frank’s other book from 1901 was a science-fiction tale, entitled The Master Key: An Electrical Fairy Tale, Founded upon the Mysteries of Electricity and the Optimism of its Devotees. It was dedicated to Frank’s son Robert, who was one of the devotees referred to in the title. The lead character, Rob Joslyn, somehow touches the Master Key of Electricity and summons the Demon of Electricity, who promises that there are far wider and better uses for electrical power than even Thomas Edison could dream of. The Demon grants Rob nine gifts, spread three per week for three weeks. The first ones are pills that provide food for an entire day, a stun tube, and a transporter resembling a watch that uses electromagnetic currents to move Rob wherever he pleases. After Rob has some adventures with these, he is then given a missile-repelling garment, a small flat box that will show him everything happening everywhere (essentially an iPad!), and the Character Marker, which will show people’s true natures. Again, Rob goes adventuring, and realizes that his gifts could be exploited by unscrupulous scientists or businessmen. However, when the Demon offers the first of his final trio of presents, an Electro-Magnetic Restorer that will bring back the dead if their blood is still warm, Rob refuses it and returns all his gifts, saying he’s not wise enough to use them – nor is the rest of Mankind. The Master Key was a success, and Frank regretted not leaving the ending open enough to allow for a sequel.


The following year Frank focused on another mythical icon in The Life and Adventures of Santa Claus that was perhaps a little too twee in its approach to the character. The book’s publication was delayed when the George M. Hill Company went into bankruptcy in February 1902; Bowen-Merrill, who had commissioned and published The Master Key, bought the plates and the rights to Baum’s work from the receiver and published Santa Claus, as well as their own edition of The Wonderful Wizard of Oz, under the rather misleading title The New Wizard of Oz. They also printed a revised version of A New Wonderland as The Magical Monarch of Mo and His People.


One reason for the change of title for the first Oz novel was the popularity of the musical version of The Wizard of Oz that had opened at the Grand Opera House in Chicago on 16 June 1902. Frank and Denslow had worked on this with composer Paul Tietjens and during the process (discussed in detail in part three), the story had deviated dramatically from the original, concentrating far more on the characters of the Scarecrow and the Tin Woodman, as well as new characters such as Sir Dashemoff Daily, and Imogen the Cow (a replacement for Toto). It was a major success: 185,000 people saw it in the fourteen weeks it played in Chicago, and it travelled around North America for eight years, spending two seasons in the Majestic Theatre in New York along the way. Frank and Tietjens made between $90,000 and $100,000 each from the royalties.


Frank and Denslow fell out over the question of royalties: Denslow felt that because he had a half-share in the copyright of the original book, and that the costumes used in the show were based on his designs, he should receive a larger share of the royalties from the show. Denslow tried to create his own Oz adventures – Pictures from the Wonderful Wizard of Oz, with a story by Thomas H. Russell; Denslow’s Scarecrow and the Tin-Man; and a short-lived comic page about the two characters. None of these had the staying power of Frank’s tales.


However, Frank had to take some time away from writing in 1902, following an attack of Bell’s palsy, which paralyses the muscles of the face for a time. On doctor’s advice, he performed manual work in the new cottage that he had been able to buy at Macatawa Park overlooking Black Lake (now Lake Macatawa). During 1902 and 1903, Frank wrote much less than normal: The Enchanted Island of Yew was his only original book published during 1903. However, he was also working on a new comic opera, King Jonah XIII, with Nathaniel D. Mann; a musical comedy Montezuma with popular novelist Emerson Hough; as well as developing his own new Oz extravaganza, The Woggle-Bug.


It wasn’t that he was actively avoiding writing a new story of Oz, simply that he felt that the tale was told. However, when Frank K. Reilly and Sumner C. Britton, two former employees of Hill Publishing, started up their own publishing house, he suggested a sequel that he entitled ‘His Majesty the Scarecrow’. After some discussion this became The Marvelous Land of Oz (often simply known as The Land of Oz), subtitled ‘Being an Account of the Further Adventures of the Scarecrow and the Tin Woodman and Also the Strange Experiences of the Highly Magnified Woggle-Bug, Jack Pumpkinhead, the Animated Saw-Horse and the Gump’. Set entirely within Oz, it introduced the key figures of Princess Ozma, who would go on to feature heavily within the series, as well as Jack Pumpkinhead and the Woggle-Bug, whose name popped into Frank’s head when he was asked the name of a sand crab by a little girl at the beach. The Woggle-Bug proved to be one of the most popular characters in the Oz series, perhaps because he gave Frank – and his successors – the opportunity to engage in puns. The Marvelous Land of Oz seems to have been written with one eye on a stage production – its central idea of a girl dressed as a boy, and the all-female army of its antagonist, General Jinjur, were eminently suited.


A new artist was hired to provide drawings for the sequel. John R. Neill, who had been working as a newspaper illustrator, was never allowed to share the copyright in the Oz books, but did receive royalties from his second book onwards, and spent around a month working on each one.


The Marvelous Land of Oz was published on 5 July 1904, with Reilly & Britton ensuring that they received maximum publicity. A series of short stories by Frank, illustrated by Walt McDougall, appeared in various newspapers under the title ‘Queer Visitors from the Marvelous Land of Oz’, featuring the Tin Woodman, Jack Pumpkinhead, the Scarecrow, the Woggle-Bug, the Saw-Horse and the Gump having various misadventures around America. When the twenty-six stories were concluded, Reilly & Britton produced The Woggle-Bug Book, illustrated by Ike Morgan, which saw the Bug falling in love with a dress that he sees in a shop window, and following it from woman to woman.


Frank had hoped to create a second stage play based on the book, again built around the Tin Woodman and the Scarecrow, but Fred Stone and David Montgomery declined to be involved, worried about being typecast in the roles. Frank removed them from the story, and rebuilt it around Jack Pumpkinhead and the Woggle-Bug. Chicago producer Henry Raeder agreed to put on the show ‘in a first-class manner’ by 1 July 1905, assuming that Frank delivered the libretto by 1 March, and made any revisions that were ‘deemed advisable’. If all went well – and with The Wizard of Oz still packing houses, there was no reason to think it wouldn’t – Raeder would mount further musicals in subsequent years. However, Raeder wasn’t able to get financial backing, so the contract was annulled, but the show still went ahead, opening on 18 June 1905. It was panned by the critics as ‘a shabby and dull repetition of a cheapened Wizard of Oz’, and closed on 13 July.


While he was working on the script, Frank was also producing other stories. Queen Zixi of Ix, or The Story of the Magic Cloak was originally serialized in St Nicholas magazine from November 1904 onwards, and then published in hardcover in October 1905. Animal Fairy Tales initially saw print in the women’s magazine Delineator between January and September 1905. And Frank’s first novel for adults, an adventure thriller, The Fate of the Crown, was appearing in the Philadelphian North American, under the title The Emperor’s Spy. It was apparently written by ‘Schuyler Staunton’, a name Frank borrowed from one of his maternal uncles, as was its sequel Daughters of Destiny – both novels were published by Reilly & Britton with no reference to Frank’s involvement.


They weren’t the only pseudonymous books Frank wrote. Reilly & Britton wanted to capitalize on the popularity of fiction aimed at teenagers – what today is described as the YA (young adult) market – and commissioned Frank to write various books both for that market and also for younger children. Frank did not want to risk ruining the Oz stories’ reputation by association, so requested that these appeared under a pen name. They appeared as Twinkle Tales, six stories by Laura Bancroft for small children; Annabel by Suzanne Metcalf; Aunt Jane’s Nieces – the first of a long-running series ‘on the style of the Louisa M. Alcott stories, but not so good’ – by Edith Van Dyne; and Sam Steele’s Adventures on Land & Sea by Captain Hugh Fitzgerald, aimed at adolescent boys. They also ordered material for what became Father Goose’s Year Book.


This spawned a period of massive productivity for Frank. The Van Dyne stories for adolescent girls were very popular, with ten Aunt Jane’s Nieces tales eventually appearing: two books featuring The Flying Girl, and four mystery stories starring Mary Louise. Captain Hugh Fitzgerald penned a further Sam Steele adventure, but neither sold particularly well; they were reprinted in 1908 as The Boy Fortune Hunters by Floyd Akers, and for some reason sold much better, leading to four more sequels between then and 1911. ‘Laura Bancroft’ also wrote Policeman Bluejay, one of Frank’s more intriguing works, which wraps a discussion about religion, heaven and the nature of evil in a story for small children. (Towards the end of his life, Frank suggested reprinting this as an Oz tale but his publishers refused; it was, though, finally ascribed to him in 1917.)


While working on these, Frank and Maud took a trip around the Mediterranean in the early part of 1906, and later that year, Frank also produced John Dough and the Cherub. This tale about the adventures of an animated doughboy was serialized in various newspapers before appearing in print but didn’t inspire the same sort of interest as his other work.


He was also returning to Oz. When he and Maud came back from their travels to Egypt and Sicily, a trip that also inspired his adult novel The Last Egyptian: A Romance of the Nile (published anonymously in 1908), Frank signed a contract to write Ozma of Oz by 1 December 1906, and to provide two further books in 1909 and 1911. The subtitle of Ozma of Oz mentions all the key participants including new characters: the Yellow Hen, Tiktok, the Hungry Tiger, ‘Besides Other Good People Too Numerous to Mention’. Dorothy has grown up in the years between The Wizard of Oz and this adventure, making her a more attractive heroine to the readers of Frank’s other books. The second book, Dorothy and the Wizard in Oz, which appeared in 1908, was not as well received by audiences, particularly given its harsh treatment of some of the characters. It did, however, get something of a push into the public eye through Frank’s latest foray into the theatre – one that would cost him dearly.
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THE ROAD TO HOLLYWOOD


Frank Baum never lost his love of the theatre, and it came as no surprise to those who knew him that he also embraced the new medium of moving pictures. In 1908, he came up with the idea of Fairylogue and Radio-Plays, which he intended as a combination of the two forms. The Chicago Tribune described it as ‘a travelogue that takes you to Oz instead of China . . . A radio play is a fairylogue with an orchestra on the left-hand side of the stage.’


Fairylogue and Radio-Plays was a two-hour long extravaganza, which brought together live actors performing excerpts from Frank’s books, slides and short films. The ‘radio-plays’ of the title were actually short films, hand coloured by the Duval Frères, in a process which Frank claimed was invented by Parisian Michel Radio, thus justifying the use of the word ‘radio’, which is more likely to have been chosen because it sounded modern! Unfortunately the costs involved were prohibitive, and although the show was popular with those who saw it, it devastated Frank’s finances, to the extent that the family had to sell their beloved cottage in Macatawa in 1909, and move to rented accommodation in Los Angeles. Eventually, on 1 August 1910, Frank had to sign over the rights and royalties on all his books published by Bobbs-Merill – The Wizard of Oz and nine others – to his major creditor, Harrison Rountree.


While Frank continued to produce more novels, including three further Oz adventures, the family settled in Los Angeles, and in 1910, Maud purchased a corner lot in the quiet suburb of Hollywood. A house was constructed at 1749 Cherokee Avenue, a block north of Hollywood Boulevard, which Frank named Ozcot. However financial worries continued to plague them: the loss of the royalties from The Wizard of Oz, and the decline in sales of the later books in the series meant that the Baums were constantly fending off creditors. On 3 June 1911, Frank filed for bankruptcy.


This curtailed Frank’s lifestyle to an extent, but he was still able to play golf and be an active member of the Los Angeles Athletic Club, as well as part of the Lofty and Exalted Order of Uplifters, one of the inner groups of its members. He was able to ‘pay’ his dues by using his talents, writing shows for them, and keeping them amused. Although The Emerald City of Oz, published in 1910, ended with Oz apparently closed off from the outside world for ever – Frank’s futile way of attempting to quell the constant requests from children for more stories – he returned to the land with The Patchwork Girl of Oz, which he wrote in 1911–1912 and was published the following year. From there on, he produced a new Oz book each year, with many of them taking around eighteen months from Reilly & Britton approving the plot to final publication.


Frank was also working on further stage shows, despite the financial mauling he had experienced from the Radio-Plays. He worked with Paul Tietjens on The Pipes of Pan and with Arthur Pryor on the comic opera Peter and Paul, although neither of these was ever produced. An adaptation of Ozma of Oz, otherwise known as The Rainbow’s Daughter, was meant to arrive at the Studebaker Theatre in Chicago in October 1909, but it finally materialized, considerably reworked, as The Tik-Tok Man of Oz in 1913. Reilly & Britton helped with the marketing of another musical comedy, The Girl from Oz, about Ellie, a beautiful young girl with whom everyone at an American army base falls in love.


The return to Oz in book form was prompted by the lower sales of Frank’s other fantasy novels for children, following the adventures of Cap’n Bill and his young friend Trot – The Sea Fairies and Sky Island. When the first new Oz novel, The Patchwork Girl of Oz, sold considerably more than these, Frank and the publishers abandoned the idea of alternating books from the two series, and in the end, Cap’n Bill and Trot were incorporated into the Oz saga. Frank also penned six little books, published as The Little Wizard Stories of Oz, focusing on pairs of characters; these were then collected into one volume. The Patchwork Girl was more problematical than some of Frank’s earlier Oz books: the publishers suggested that he rework one passage, which included ‘meat plants’, and he was not happy with Neill’s illustrations, despite the publishers arranging for the two men to meet.
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